FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/18/2023 11:09 AM

SUPREME COURT No. 102656-1

COA No. 85274-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FATEN ANWAR

Petitioner

V.

EXAM MASTER CORPORATION Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Faten Anwar 2732 197TH LN SW, Lot 31 Lynnwood, Washington 98036 206. 533.9412 fatenaabdelmaksoud@gmail.com

Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Faten Anwar, henceforth referred to as Anwar, is the Plaintiff in the Superior Court and the Appellant in the Court of Appeals, Division One.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' opinion, *Faten Anwar v. Exam Master Corporation*, No. 85274-4-I (November 20, 2023), appended to this petition and henceforth referenced as the (*Opinion*).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Ensuring payment for work done is a matter of great public interest. Petitioner respectfully asks this Court to review whether the Court of Appeals *Opinion*:

1. Departed from contract interpretation principles that are (a) espoused by this Court in *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc., v. Seattle Times*; and *Guy Stickney, Inc. v. Underwood*; and (b) adopted by the Court of Appeals in *Mendez v. Palm Harbor Homes* precedent.

- 2. Departed from its precedents in *Billings v. Town of*Steilacoom and Haley v. Amazon when it considered and weighed inadmissible evidence in the setting of summary judgment.
- 3. Departed from this Court's precedents in *Amend v. Bell and Balise v. Underwood* regarding granting summary judgment despite impeachment of the movant's evidence.
- 4. Departed from its precedent in *Brundridge v. Fluor Hanford*, *Inc.* when it decided that the arbitration agreement covered Anwar's statutory claims although the arbitration provision is not sufficiently specific and does not clearly umnistakably waive the right to a judicial forum for state-law claims or violations of public policy.
- 5. Departed from its precedent in Williams v. State regarding the choice of law by not finding that Washington substantive law and statute of limitation govern Anwar's state-law claims.

- **6.** Departed from this Court's precedents in *Failla v*.

 FixtureOne and Toulouse v. Swanson by not finding that

 Washington has jurisdiction over Anwar's statutory claims and

 Respondent, Exam Master Corporation.
- 7. Departed from this Court's precedent in *Hadley v. Maxwell* regarding the effect of the small claims case on the superior court state-law Complaint.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

D.1. The Contract

Anwar's Contract with Exam Master, signed by both parties in 2002, defines the pay to be by the job with the job being the authoring of medical review questions and the pay being perpetual royalties. CP 295-298. The core relationship between Anwar and Exam Master rests on **two prongs** with the **first** being Anwar's bearing all costs incurred in the authoring of her medical review questions; Section 3 of the Contract states: "Author agrees to be responsible for expenses". CP 296. The only form of pay, for Anwar's work, is the perpetual

royalties which constitute the **second prong** of the relationship between Anwar and Exam Master; **the two guarantees, of perpetuity in the Contract, lie in its sections 2.e and 7.c.**Section 2.e **protects** Anwar from arbitrary deactivation of her review questions by stating:

"If at any time, a Question(s) received from Author is deemed by Publisher to be unusable, publisher will notify Author indicating the reason(s) why said Question(s) is/are being rejected and will specify Publisher's recommended modifications to raise the Question(s) to the acceptable standards. Also, due to changes in medicine and testing criteria, Publisher may require periodic reviews and updates of the Questions by the Author. In these aforementioned instances, Author will deliver replacement material satisfactory to Publisher in order to continue to receive payment for the Question(s)".

CP 296. Section 7.c explicitly states that Anwar's royalties survive termination of the Contract. CP 297. That the perpetual royalties are pay due Anwar for work already done is **attested** to by the Contract's guarantee of perpetuity in sections 2.e and 7.c and by Exam Master's December 19, 2016 email in which it wanted to pay Anwar \$10 per question in exchange for her giving up her rights to perpetual royalties. CP 300. That email

aside from the fact that it acknowledges Exam Master's liability to Anwar, is an egregious attempt at wage theft if you compare what the email wanted to pay to what the perpetual royalties would amount to. CP 292, 304, 305. The email basically wanted to take Anwar's rights to perpetual royalties in exchange for less than three-year worth of royalties.

After Anwar refused to accept Exam Master's attempt at wage theft that was masqueraded as a desire to change the Contract, Exam Master terminated the Contract in April 2017 then arbitrarily disabled all of Anwar's review questions at the end of June 2017. CP 91. Arbitrarily disabling, all of Anwar's review questions, constitutes willful wrongful withholding of her perpetual royalty payments; besides, Exam Master's saying that it disabled the questions does not necessarily mean that it did; furthermore, Anwar's pay is by the job; Anwar authored the questions for Exam Master and Exam Master has them and is obligated to pay Anwar for them in the amount requested in the Complaint. CP 292.

D.2. The small claims case

Anwar filed a complaint, S22-0110, in April 2022 with the small claims court in Snohomish County and set a mediation hearing to recover a then missed nine cycles of withheld royalty payments. CP 93-96. The mediation hearing was scheduled for August 2, 2022. CP 95. Exam Master resorted to improper service of its motion to dismiss and got the case dismissed. Anwar filed a motion to reconsider. The Court granted Anwar's motion to reconsider and set another mediation hearing date for January 17, 2023. CP 196. With the new mediation hearing being set for January 2023, the S22-•11 complaint that sought to recover nine cycles of missed royalty payments became obsolete since by January 2023 Exam Master had missed eleven cycles of royalty payments and the \$5000 maximum allowed in the small claims court couldn't cover that; at that point, Anwar had to and did withdraw the complaint that no longer represented what is owed her. CP 190.

D.3. The lawsuit in the Superior Court

Anwar filed a Complaint under RCW 49.52.050(2) & .070 for willful wrongful withholding of pay for work already done. CP 282-293, 294-318. These statutes give Anwar the right to recover double exemplary damages for her withheld pay. Anwar also sought compensatory damages for lost future royalties in perpetuity. CP 291-292. Exam Master filed a motion to dismiss. CP 263-270. Anwar filed a response in opposition. CP 158-202. Anwar filed a motion for summary judgment on March 21, 2023 and tabled it for May 10, 2023. CP 206-251. Exam Master filed a response on April 7, 2023. CP 144-157. Along with its response, Exam Master filed Matthew J. Bader's declaration whose Exhibit B fails to satisfy Washington Courts Rules of Evidence. Appellant's Brief, at 46-49; CP125-130. On April 13, 2023, Anwar filed a motion to strike Exam Master's inadmissible evidence. CP 76-106. The trial court entered a summary judgment dismissal on April 19, 2023, which caused the motion to strike tabled for April 27,

2023 not to be heard. CP 71-72. Instead of denying Exam Master's motion to dismiss or postponing the hearing till after the Motion to Strike is heard, the trial court chose to dismiss the case and insert a statement in the decision about its consideration of all records on file with the Court to include the impeached Exhibits and Anwar's Motion to Strike them without stating that Anwar contested them. *Appellant's Brief*, at 63-65; CP 72.

D.4. The Court of Appeals decision

Anwar appealed from the trial court's decision. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal in its November 20, 2023 *Opinion*.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Per RAP 13.4(b), this Court accepts review of appellate decisions that are in conflict with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court of Washington. Anwar's petition meets both criteria. In the instant case, Anwar's withheld royalties are pay for work done. *Appellant's Brief*, at 18-23.

Washington courts liberally construe the wage-withholding statute to advance the legislature's goal of ensuring payment for work done. *LaCoursiere v. Camwest Dev.*, *Inc.*, at 968; *Reply Brief*, at 6.

E.1. The Court of Appeals departed from contract interpretation principles that are espoused by this Court and that it, itself, adopted in prior decisions

Anwar signed only one contract with Exam Master and that was in 2002. CP 295-298. The Contract has an arbitration agreement in its section 9.c, which states:

"This agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware in the United States. If a dispute arises under this agreement, the parties agree to submit the dispute to an independent arbitrator in New Castle County, Delaware (USA)."

CP 298. The text of the arbitration agreement **does not have a survivability of termination clause.** CP 298. Washington follows the objective manifestation theory of contracts. This Court states:

"Washington continues to follow the objective manifestation theory of contracts. Under this approach, we attempt to determine the parties' intent by focusing on the objective manifestations of the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties."

Hearst Commc'ns, Inc., v. Seattle Times, at 503 (citation omitted).

"We don not interpret what was intended to be written but what was written."

Id., at 504 (citation omitted). The *Opinion* presumptively **added** survivability of termination to the arbitration provision that does not have a survivability of termination clause. Opinion, at 6. In the instant case, the parties have agreed **not to** have the arbitration agreement survive termination of the Contract. CP 298. Exam Master wrote the arbitration agreement without a survivability of contract termination clause knowing full well that Anwar's royalties are perpetual and that they survive termination of the Contract as per sections 2.e and 7.c. CP 296, 297. If there are ambiguities as to the relationship of any contract provision to the arbitration provision, it should be resolved against Exam Master, who wrote the agreement as per this Court's precedent in Guy Stickney that the Court of

Appeals adopted in *Mendez v. Palm Harbor Homes*. This Court states:

"Initially, it should be noted that contract language subject to interpretation is construed most strongly against the party who drafted it, or whose attorney prepared it."

Guy Stickney, Inc. v. Underwood, at 827. In Mendez, the Court of Appeals states:

"[U]nder general principles of contract interpretation, the reviewing court construes ambiguities in the agreements against the drafter. *Rouse v. Glascam Builders, Inc.*, 101 Wn.2d 127, 135, 677 P.2d 125 (1984); *Guy Stickney, Inc. v. Underwood*, 67 Wn.2d 824, 827, 410 P.2d 7 (1966)."

Mendez v. Palm Harbor Homes, Inc., at 459.

The wrongful withholding of Anwar's perpetual royalty payments started after termination of a contract whose arbitration agreement does not survive its termination. Exam Master, knowingly and choosingly started the withholding of Anwar's pay after termination of the Contract with full knowledge that its arbitration agreement does not survive termination and that sections 2.e and 7.c of the Contract guarantee the perpetuity of Anwar's royalty payments and their

Survival of contract termination. *Reply* Brief, at 18-21. The *Opinion* skipped over these facts, ignored the written text of sections 2.e and 7.c and of the arbitration agreement itself, made presumptions and construed the language of the Contract against Anwar and in favor of the drafter by stating:

"Whether Anwar is entitled to perpetual royalties arises from the agreement. Given the potential perpetual nature of the royalties and that the parties intended to arbitrate disputes, presumably, the arbitration clause survives termination to apply to a disputed right that survives termination."

Opinion, at 6; the court of appeals departed from the Objective Manifestation Theory when it used the phrase 'disputed right'; the text, of sections 2.e and 7.c of the Contract, is clear in its guaranteeing the perpetual nature of Anwar's royalties and their survival of contract termination; there is nothing disputed about what they mean. CP 296, 297. The *Opinion* departed from this principle once more when it chose to add the words 'whether' and 'potential' to the term perpetual royalties; sections 2.e and 7.e of the Contract expressly ensure the perpetual nature of the royalty payments with section 7.c expressly stating that the

royalties survive termination of the Contract and section 2.e

protecting Anwar from arbitrary deactivation of her

questions by expressly stating that if any questions needed

modification, they will be given to Anwar to update to ensure
their continued publication; the two provisions taken together
guarantee the perpetuity of Anwar's royalty payments.

E.2. The Court of Appeals departed from its precedents by considering and weighing inadmissible evidence in a summary judgment setting

The Court of Appeals states in *Billings v. Town of*Steilacoom:

" A court cannot consider inadmissible evidence when ruling on a summary judgment motion."

Id., at 1140 (citing Kenco Enters. Nw., LLC v. Wiese, at 264).

Anwar's perpetual royalties are pay for work done. Appellant's Brief, at 17. Anwar's Complaint is not a contract dispute; sections 7.c and 2.e clearly indicate that Anwar's pay, for her review questions, survives termination and that her questions are protected from arbitrary deactivation; the text, of these two

sections, is crystal clear and there is no dispute as to what it means. CP 296, 297. Anwar's Complaint is a straightforward case of wrongful willful withholding of pay for work already done; it is different from *Nolde Brothers* in which petitioner paid accrued wages but rejected respondent's demand for severance pay; the severance pay was disputed under the agreement. Nolde Bros., Inc. v. Bakery Workers, at 243. Anwar's perpetual royalties are accrued wages **not** severance pay and they are not disputed as per the text of sections 2.e and 7.c of the Contract. Unlike *Nolde Bros.*, *Inc. v. Bakery Workers*, Exam Master did not pay Anwar her accrued pay, which takes the form of perpetual royalties in the instant case. Anwar's right to perpetual royalties is clear under the one and only contract she signed with Exam Master in 2002; the Court of Appeals' use of the words 'whether', 'potential' and the phrase 'disputed right' in page 6 of the *Opinion* could have only emanated from its consideration of inadmissible Exhibit B of Matthew J. Bader declaration that Anwar sought to strike.

Appellant's Brief, at 46-49; CP 76-106, 125-130. The Court of Appeals considered and weighed impeached inadmissible Exhibit B and made an erroneous statement about it by stating: "It appears that the parties executed a nearly identical agreement... in 2007." Opinion, Footnote 1, Pages 1-2. The Opinion neglects to mention that Anwar moved to strike said Exhibit for its failure to satisfy the Washington Courts Rules of Evidence due to lack of any guarantees as to truthfulness and trustworthiness. *Appellants' Brief*, at 46-49. Exhibit B is the **exact opposite** of the **2002 Contract**; Exhibit B was forged, designed and introduced to take away Anwar's right to perpetual royalties; the changed language of section 2.e of Exhibit B makes section 7.c not worth the paper on which it is written. Compare CP 296 to CP 127. Changed section 2.e of Exhibit B states that Exam Master can take written questions electronically from authors one day and the next day tell them that it is not going to use their questions and that Exam Master owns the questions and owes them nothing; Exhibit B is **not** a

contract that **anyone** would sign; the phrase 'nearly identical' ignores that; it also ignores the fact that Exam Master tried to take away Anwar's right to perpetual royalties in exchange for \$10 per question in its email dated December 19, 2016. CP 300. If Exhibit B were authentic, Exam Master would not have needed to write that email and would not have needed to buy Anwar out if all it can do is arbitrarily deactivate all her questions. The Court of Appeals' weighing of Exhibit B in a summary judgment setting departed from its *Haley* precedent:

"On summary judgment, the trial court may not weigh the evidence, assess credibility, consider the likelihood that evidence will prove true, or otherwise resolve issues of material fact."

Haley v. Amazon, at 86.

In Footnote 1, pages 1-2, the *Opinion* applies *Townsend v*. *Quadrant Corp.*, *which* is not controlling in the instant case; the primary issue that was before this Court in *Townsend* was whether to apply *McKee or Buckeye* in deciding procedural unconscionability. *Townsend v. Quadrant Corp.*, at 459, 921. In

the instant case, the issue with Exhibit B is its **inadmissibility** as evidence for failure to satisfy ER **904(a)(6)**. *Appellant's Brief*, at 46-49. In the footnote, the *Opinion* skips over the issue of the **inadmissibility of Exhibit B as evidence** and inappositely **discusses** contract formation where in fact the issue is that Exhibit B **is not a contract at all**; Exhibit B is a forged document that Exam Master did not use in the small claims court case; Exam Master's response to the small claim didn't dispute the fact that Anwar has the one and only 2002 Contract with it. In fact Exam Master affirmed that it has only the 2002 Contract with Anwar in its motion to dismiss the small claim mediation hearing. CP 97-101. CR 8 states:

"Averments in a pleading to which a responsive pleading is required other than those as to the amount of damage are admitted when not denied in the responsive pleading."

CR 8(d).

E.3. The Court of Appeals departed from this Court's *Amend v. Bell and Balise v. Underwood* precedents

Summary judgment dismissal despite impeachment of the movant's evidence conflicts with this Court's *Amend v. Bell and Balise v. Underwood* precedents. *Appellants' Brief*, at 63-65. This Court states:

"An issue of credibility is present if there is contradictory evidence or the movant's evidence is impeached."

Amend v. Bell at 129 (citing Balise v. Underwood at 200).

"When at a hearing on a motion for summary judgment, there is contradictory evidence, or the movant's evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is present, provided the contradicting or impeaching evidence is not too incredible to be believed by reasonable minds. The court should not at such hearing resolve a genuine issue of credibility, and if such an issue is present the motion should be denied."

Balise v. Underwood at 200 (citation omitted).

E.4. The Court of Appeals departed from its precedent in *Brundridge v. Fluor Hanford*, *Inc.* when it decided that the arbitration agreement covered Anwar's statutory claims

The boilerplate arbitration provision, in the instant case, is not sufficiently specific; it **does not** clearly and unmistakably

waive Anwar's right to a judicial forum for state-law claims and violations of public policy. CP 298. In *Brundridge*, the Court of Appeals states:

"[I]n determining whether a particular claim is covered by an arbitration clause, it must be remembered that a labor arbitrator has authority solely to resolve questions of contractual rights, not to invoke public laws that conflict with the bargain between the parties. *Gilmer*, 500 U.S. at 34...Because the CBA does not contain a clear and unmistakable waiver of the pipe fitters' rights to judicial forum for state-law claims, the trial court erred in dismissing the action and in remanding it for arbitration."

Brundridge v. Fluor Hanford, Inc., 109 Wash.App. 347, at 356 (cert. denied). Anwar's Complaint is a state-law claim of wrongful willful withholding of pay for work already done.

Appellant's Brief, at 18-23. Anwar's instant lawsuit is brought under RCW 49.52.05(2) & RCW 49.52.070 within the six-year time frame allowed in RCW 4.16.040(1) for actions on written contract. CP 291-292. Exam Master's withholding of Anwar's pay violates Washington laws and public policy. The Opinion, in the instant case, conflicts with the Court of Appeals

Brundridge precedent, which states:

"[T]he FAA does not require arbitration in this case because the arbitration clause does not clearly and unmistakably waive the pipe fitters' right to judicial forum for their claim of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy."

Brundridge v. Fluor Hanford, Inc., 109 Wash.App. 347, at 362 (cert. denied).

E.5. The Court of Appeals departed from its *Williams* v. *State* precedent regarding the choice of law

Washington law governs Anwar's state-law claims.

Appellant's Brief, at 35-46. Anwar 's state-law Complaint is based on Washington laws; Washington is the place of performance and the place of the wrong and it has far more contacts with the instant case than Delaware. In deciding whether Oregon or Washington substantive law applied in Williams v. State, the Court of Appeals states:

"In determining choice of law, Washington applies the most significant relationship test."

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