FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/17/2024 4:34 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102656-1 Court of Appeals No. 85274-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FATEN ANWAR,

APPELLANT,

v.

EXAM MASTER CORPORATION, a Delaware Corporation,

RESPONDENT.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kristy S. Ball, WSBA No. 39986 Hannah M. Lasting, WSBA No. 58614 HELSELL FETTERMAN LLP 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 292-1144 kball@helsell.com hlasting@helsell.com Attorneys for Respondent

I.	Introduction					
II.	I. Identity of the Answering Party					
III. Restatement of the Case						
IV. Answer to Petition for Review						
	A.	 A. The Court of Appeals Decision Affirming Dismissal of Anwar's Claims Was Correct and Not in Conflict with Any Decision by this Court or the Court of Appeals				
		1.	The Court of Appeals did not depart from the contract interpretation principles espoused by this Court or the Court of Appeals7			
		2.	The Court of Appeals did not depart from precedent when it correctly determined that Anwar's claims are subject to the arbitration clause			
		3.	The Court of Appeals did not depart from any precedent regarding weighing inadmissible evidence or granting summary judgment			
		4.	The Court of Appeals did not depart from its precedent regarding choice of law, jurisdiction, or the effect of the small claims case			
	 B. The Court of Appeals Decision Affirming Dismissal of Anwar's Claims Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest					
V.	V. Conclusion					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Berman v. Tierra Real Estate Grp., LLC, 23 Wn. App. 2d 387, 515 P.3d 1004 (2022)
Biochron, Inc. v. Blue Roots, LLC, 529 P.3d 464 (2023) 14
Brundridge v. Fluor Hanford, Inc., 109 Wn. App. 347, 35 P.3d 389, 392 (2001)
Council of County & City Emps. v. Spokane County, 32 Wn. App. 422, 647 P.2d 1058 (1982)13
Davis v. Gen. Dynamics Land Sys., 152 Wn. App. 715, 217 P.3d 1191 (2009)
<u>Guy Stickney, Inc. V. Underwood</u> , 67 Wn.2d 824, 410 P.2d 7 (1966)
<u>Healy v. Seattle Rugby, LLC</u> , 15 Wn. App. 2d 539, 476 P.3d 583 (2020)
<u>Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d</u> <u>493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)</u>
Heights at Issaquah Ridge, Owners Ass'n v. Burton
Landscape Grp., Inc., 148 Wn. App. 400, 200 P.3d 254 (2009)
Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 537 U.S. 79
(2002)
John Wiley & Sons, Inc. v. Livingston, 376 U.S. 543
(1964)
Mendez v. Palm Harbor Homes, 111 Wn. App. 446, 45
P.3d 594 (2002)

Munsey v. Walla Walla College, 80 Wn. App. 92, 906
P.2d 988 (1995)11
<u>Peninsula Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Pub. Sch. Emps. of</u> <u>Peninsula</u> , 130 Wn.2d 401, 924 P.2d 13 (1996)13
<u>Perez v. Mid–Century Ins. Co.</u> , 85 Wn. App. 760, 934 P.2d 731 (1997)
<u>Romney v. Franciscan Med. Grp.</u> , 199 Wn. App 589, 399 P.3d 1220 (2017)
<u>Stein v. Geonerco, Inc.</u> , 105 Wn. App. 41, 17 P.3d 1266 (2001)
<u>Townsend v. Quadrant Corp.</u> , 153 Wn. App. 870, 224 P.3d 818, <u>aff'd</u> ,173 Wn.2d 451, 268 P.3d 917 (2012)15
Zuver v. Airtouch Comme'ns, Inc., 153 Wn.2d 293, 103 P.3d 753 (2004)
RULES
CR 12
CR 12(b)
RAP 13.4(b)2, 7, 21

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the dismissal of Faten Anwar's ("Anwar") claims against Respondent Exam Master Corporation ("Exam Master") pursuant to CR 12(b) based upon the arbitration clause within the publishing agreement between Anwar and Exam Master.

In 2002, Anwar and Exam Master executed a publishing agreement ("agreement" or "contract") wherein Anwar, as an independent contractor, would create exam questions that would be used by Exam Master. The agreement contained a provision that provided the agreement would be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, and any dispute arising under the agreement would be subject to arbitration in Delaware. In 2017, Exam Master notified Anwar of its intent to terminate the agreement and remove all questions written by Anwar from their material.

On January 31, 2023, Anwar sued Exam Master in Snohomish County Superior Court seeking payment for

1

royalties. Exam Master brought a motion to dismiss pursuant to CR 12(b). The trial court granted Exam Master's motion to dismiss based on the validity of the arbitration clause and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

Anwar cannot meet any of the criteria for further review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b). The Petition for Review should be denied.

II. <u>IDENTITY OF THE ANSWERING PARTY</u>

Respondent Exam Master, by and through its attorneys of record, Kristy S. Ball and Hannah M. Lasting, respectfully ask the Court deny the Petition for Review.

III. <u>RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

On February 13, 2002 Anwar and Exam Master entered into a publishing agreement wherein Anwar, as an independent contractor, would create exam questions that would be used by Exam Master in testing publications. CP 255–259. Anwar was to receive royalties as compensation for creating questions. CP 256–257, See also CP 295–298. Under the agreement, Anwar and Exam Master agreed all disputes arising under the agreement would be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware and subject to an independent arbitration in New Castle County, Delaware. CP 259. The agreement also provided that either party could terminate the agreement at any time by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the other party. CP 258. "If the agreement terminated, Anwar's royalties would survive termination and Exam Master had to pay them for as long as Anwar's questions were sold." <u>Anwar v. Exam Master</u>, No. 85274-4-I (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 20, 2023), **Appendix A**, p. 6.¹

In December 2016, Exam Master made a business decision to implement a different payment model for author contracts, switching the royalty-based payment model it had been using to a cash-for-content payment model. CP 300. Exam Master explained to Anwar the reasoning behind such shift in

¹ The unpublished Court of Appeals decision has been attached to this Answer as **Appendix A** for the Court's ease of reference.

payment models—that Exam Master found that the royaltybased payment model to be inconsistent and require additional work on the part of their authors. <u>Id</u>.

Despite Exam Master's efforts to maintain their business relationship, Anwar refused to negotiate. CP 285, lines 1–3. In February 2017, in accordance with the terms of the agreement, Exam Master provided Anwar with thirty (30) days written notice to terminate any and all agreements. CP 302–303. The agreement was terminated as of March 16, 2017. <u>Id</u>. on April 18, 2017, Exam Master confirmed the agreement terminated and its intent to remove all questions written by Anwar. <u>Id</u>. Exam Master also notified Anwar that final royalties would be paid in September 2017. <u>Id</u>.

On April 29, 2022, more than five years after termination of the Contract, Anwar filed a small claims action in Snohomish County District Court against Exam Master alleging damages consistent with the small claims amount restrictions. CP 260–262. On December 5, 2022, the court granted Anwar's request to dismiss the case. <u>Id</u>.

On January 10, 2023 Anwar filed suit against Exam Master in Snohomish County Superior Court seeking royalty payments. CP 262, 111, <u>See also</u> CP 282–293. On March 17, 2023, Exam Master moved to dismiss the complaint under CR 12(b) for lack of jurisdiction and failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted based on the agreement's arbitration clause. CP 263–270. The hearing was noted for April 19, 2023. CP 271–273.

During the pendency of Exam Master's motion to dismiss, Anwar filed multiple summary judgment motions. CP 111, 206–251. A hearing on Anwar's motion for summary judgment was noted for May 10, 2023. <u>Id</u>. However, Anwar's motion for summary judgment was not heard. On April 19, 2023, the trial court considered and granted Exam Master's motion to dismiss with prejudice.² CP 71–72. The trial court found (1) the parties entered into and operated under a contract which contains a mandatory arbitration clause, (2) the dispute arose during the period of time in which the parties had a valid contract, and (3) the issue in controversy related directly to the contract. <u>Id</u>. Ultimately, finding that the arbitration clause survives and mandates the manner of dispute resolution <u>Id</u>.

Anwar appealed the trial court decision on April 24, 2023. CP 66. On November 20, 2023, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order. <u>See Appendix A</u>.

Anwar now seeks Supreme Court Review.

IV. ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in

² The trial court did not consider Anwar's motion for summary judgment.

conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

- A. The Court of Appeals Decision Affirming Dismissal of Anwar's Claims Was Correct and Not in Conflict with Any Decision by this Court or the Court of Appeals.
 - 1. <u>The Court of Appeals did not depart from the</u> <u>contract interpretation principles espoused by this</u> <u>Court or the Court of Appeals.</u>

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Anwar's claims for unpaid royalties are subject to the arbitration clause because they fall within the agreement. **Appendix A**, p. 6. Anwar argues that the Court of Appeals departed from contract interpretation principles espoused by this Court. Nonetheless, both Anwar and the Court of Appeals note the same contract interpretation principle—that contract interpretation requires Washington courts to focus on the objective manifestations of the agreement to determine the parties' intent. <u>Id</u>. at p. 4 ("In Washington, contract interpretation requires courts to focus on the objective manifestations of the agreement to determine the parties' intent."); Pet. For Rev., p. 9 (reiterating that "Washington continues to follow the objective manifestation theory of contracts.") (internal quotations omitted).

Anwar states that the Court of Appeals departed from contract interpretation principles that are espoused by this Court in <u>Hearst Commc'ns, Inc., v. Seattle Times</u> and <u>Guy Stickney,</u> <u>Inc. V. Underwood</u>, and adopted by the Court of Appeals in <u>Mendez v. Palm Harbor Homes</u>. Pet. For Rev., p. 1. However, the Court of Appeals' contract interpretation analysis focused on the precedent from <u>Berman v. Tierra Real Estate Grp.,</u> <u>LLC</u>—a 2022 Court of Appeals decision which discusses the objective manifestation theory of contract interpretation and cites to the <u>Hearst</u> case. <u>Berman v. Tierra Real Estate Grp.,</u> <u>LLC</u>, 23 Wn. App. 2d 387, 394, 515 P.3d 1004 (2022); **Appendix A**, p. 4. Moreover, the Court of Appeals even mentioned the <u>Hearst</u> case in its opinion, stating: "When considering the language of a written agreement, we 'impute an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of the words used."" <u>Berman</u>, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 394 (quoting <u>Hearst</u>, 154 Wn.2d 493). **Appendix A**, p. 4–5 (internal quotations omitted).

Further, Anwar's reliance on <u>Mendez</u> and <u>Guy Stickney</u> is misplaced within the context of interpreting the language of an arbitration clause. Anwar uses <u>Mendez</u> and <u>Guy Stickney</u> to emphasize the general principle that ambiguities in the language of a contract should be construed against the drafter and argues that the lack of specific language in the contract stating that the arbitration clause survives termination should have been construed against Exam Master. See Pet. For Rev. p. 11.

However, Anwar entirely ignores the contract interpretation principles adopted by this Court and the Court of Appeals with respect to arbitration clauses. <u>See Appendix A</u>, p. 5 (citing <u>Berman</u>, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 394 (noting that "Courts apply a strong presumption in favor of arbitration," where "[i]ssues on which the parties disagree are presumed to be within the arbitration clause unless expressly stated otherwise or negated by clear implication"); <u>Heights at Issaquah Ridge,</u> <u>Owners Ass'n v. Burton Landscape Grp., Inc.</u>, 148 Wn. App. 400, 403, 200 P.3d 254 (2009) (noting that if "the dispute can fairly be said to invoke a claim covered by the agreement, any inquiry by the courts must end"); and <u>Zuver v. Airtouch</u> <u>Comme'ns, Inc.</u>, 153 Wn.2d 293, 302, 103 P.3d 753 (2004) (noting that the "burden of demonstrating that an arbitration agreement is not enforceable is on the party opposing the arbitration")).³

Additionally, the court in <u>Mendez</u> even reiterated Washington's strong public policy favoring arbitration of disputes. <u>Mendez</u>, 111 Wn. App. 446, 454, 45 P.3d 594 (2002) (citing <u>Perez v. Mid–Century Ins. Co.</u>, 85 Wn. App. 760, 765,

³ Exam Master has also cited these cases in its briefing, emphasizing such arbitration clause interpretation principles.

934 P.2d 731 (1997); <u>Munsey v. Walla Walla College</u>, 80 Wn. App. 92, 94, 906 P.2d 988 (1995). <u>See also Id</u>. (quoting <u>Stein v.</u> <u>Geonerco, Inc.</u>, 105 Wn. App. 41, 45–46, 17 P.3d 1266 (2001)) ("In determining whether the two parties agreed to arbitrate the particular dispute, we consider . . . as a matter of policy, courts favor arbitration of disputes."). Thus, the Court of Appeals did not depart from contract interpretation principles espoused by this Court.⁴

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that "[b]ecause Anwar's claims for unpaid royalties fall within the agreement, they are subject to the arbitration clause." <u>See Appendix A, p.</u> 6. The "agreement is clear and unambiguous," stating "<u>[i]f a</u> <u>dispute arises under this Agreement</u> the parties agree to submit the dispute to an independent arbitrator." <u>Id</u>. at p. 5–6. "The dispute raised by Anwar is the perpetual payment of royalties established by the agreement," and "[w]hether Anwar is entitled

⁴ The other case Anwar relies on, <u>Guy Stickney</u> does not involve an agreement to arbitrate. <u>See generally</u> 67 Wn.2d 824, 410 P.2d 7 (1966).

to perpetual royalties arises from the agreement." <u>Id</u>. The language of the agreement makes it clear that "the parties intended to arbitrate disputes." <u>Id</u>. at p. 6.

While there is no language in the agreement explicitly stating that the arbitration clause survives termination of the agreement, as the Court of Appeals pointed out, the potential for perpetual royalties under the agreement leaves the door open for a potentially disputed right that also survives termination.⁵ Id. Thus, "the arbitration clause survives termination to apply to a disputed right that survives termination." Id. The Court of Appeals considered "the presumption in favor of arbitration" and the lack of "any express contract provision or clear implication to the contrary," concluding that "the arbitration clause survives termination of the agreement." Id. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed

⁵ Section 7.c. of the agreement states: "Royalties for the Author shall survive termination. Publisher shall be obligated to pay royalties on Questions that are sold I Publishers' products for as long as any products containing Author's Questions are sold." CP 258. Appendix A, p. 6,

trial court's finding that the arbitration clause survives and mandates the manner of dispute resolution.

This Court should deny Anwar's petition for review because the Court of Appeals did not depart from the contract interpretation principles espoused by this Court or the Court of Appeals.

2. <u>The Court of Appeals did not depart from</u> <u>precedent when it correctly determined that</u> <u>Anwar's claims are subject to the arbitration</u> <u>clause.</u>

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision that the arbitration clause survives and mandates the manner of dispute resolution. As the Court of Appeals noted and as discussed above—the case law is clear that Washington courts apply a strong presumption in favor of arbitration. <u>See</u> <u>Id</u>. at p. 5; <u>Berman</u>, 23 Wn. App.2d at 394 (quoting <u>Peninsula</u> <u>Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Pub. Sch. Emps. of Peninsula</u>, 130 Wn.2d 401, 414, 924 P.2d 13 (1996); <u>Council of County & City Emps.</u> <u>v. Spokane County</u>, 32 Wn. App. 422, 424–25, 647 P.2d 1058 (1982) ("Washington courts apply a 'strong presumption in favor of arbitrability' and '[d]oubts should be resolved in favor of coverage.")) (internal quotations omitted).⁶

Also as mentioned above, "[i]ssues on which the parties disagree are presumed to be within the arbitration clause unless expressly stated otherwise or negated by clear implication."

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